1976

State of Utah in the interest of Baby Girl Marie v. Nadine Munoz : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal by the natural mother from an Order and Judgment of the Juvenile Court entered on January 9, 1975, permanently depriving her of all parental rights in connection with her child, baby girl Marie; and from a decision of the Juvenile Court on May 4, 1976, refusing to vacate and set aside as null and void its order entered on January 9, 1975.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The Juvenile Court, upon petition of the Utah Division of Family Services, found that the natural mother was unable to provide adequately for all the needs of said child and agreed that it was in the best interest of said child for parental rights to be terminated and for said child to be placed for adoption. On April 22, 1976, a hearing was held at which the Juvenile Court refused to vacate and set aside its Order of January 9, 1975.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The appellant seeks to have the order of the Juvenile Court,

terminating the appellant's parental rights, set aside as null and void because it was entered beyond the dispositional power of the Juvenile Court under the particular circumstances of this case. Also, the appellant seeks reversal of the decision of the Juvenile Court, entered on May 4, 1976, refusing to vacate and set aside the Court's order of January 9, 1975.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant Nadine Munoz, on August 10, 1974, gave birth to a baby girl named Marie, when the appellant was sixteen (16) years of age. The natural mother's parents refused to permit her to bring the child home, so a temporary custody authorization was given by the appellant to the State of Utah, Division of Family Services (hereafter DFS) on the day the child was born. Appellant at no time wanted to give the baby up for adoption, but was receiving extreme pressure from her parents to do so and advice from the DFS Social Worker that she should give up her child for adoption.

An initial hearing was held on August 15, 1974, at which the baby girl was placed in the temporary custody of DFS because the juvenile-mother had not been permitted by her parents to bring the child home with her from the hospital. Another hearing was scheduled for August 22, 1974.

At the August 22, hearing the juvenile mother was advised by the Juvenile Court referee of her right to counsel. She desired to speak with counsel, so the matter was continued to October 3, 1974. The child was continued in the temporary custody of DFS. The October 3, arraignment was rescheduled for October 24, 1974, at which time counsel

for the appellant appeared before the court and entered a denial to a petition which had been filed by DFS alleging that the appellant did not want to, nor had she the capability to care for her child. At the October 24, arraignment, custody of the child was continued with DFS; the natural mother was granted twice-weekly visitation rights with her child which she exercised; and trial was set for November 6, 1974.

On November 6, the appellant appeared before the court, with counsel. The court was advised that the appellant wanted to keep her child but that her parents would not allow her to bring the child into their home. Thereafter, the court ordered that the child be placed temporarily with DFS, and set review in one year. This was done because the juvenile-mother was only sixteen (16) years of age and, at that time, unable to independently support the child. No evidence was introduced to the court that this problem would not rectify itself over time.

On December 2, 1974, DFS filed yet another new petition requesting permanent termination of the appellant's parental rights. A hearing was scheduled for January 9, 1975. No notice of this new proceeding was sent to counsel for the juvenile-mother. Summons by publication was entered for one John Doe, the unknown father of baby girl Marie.

The January 9, 1975, hearing was held, at which the juvenile-mother appeared in response to a summons. She was not represented by counsel, nor did her parents appear with her before the court, the parents having previously refused to have anything to do with the matter. The only other adult present was Ms. Marilyn Dale, the DFS Social Worker who had been advising the appellant to put her child up for adoption.

ever since the child was born. At this hearing the juvenile-mother agreed to the termination of her parental rights because her parents refused to permit her to bring the child into their home, which, of course, was where the appellant also lived at the time and indeed still lives.

For the next year the appellant made repeated visits to the Ogden DFS office, seeking knowledge about her child. No one would tell her anything -- not even that the child was adopted in August of 1975. Finally, the social worker told the appellant she should consult an attorney, which she did immediately in March of 1976. The result was the petition to the court, heard on April 22, 1976, requesting that the court, pursuant to Section 55-10-106, U.C.A. 1953, as amended, set aside and vacate its order entered on January 9, 1975, permanently terminating the appellant's parent-child relationship.

This appeal is taken from the decision of the court, entered after the April 22, 1976, hearing, denying the petition to vacate and set aside the January 9, 1975 termination order.

ARGUMENT

POINT 1

TERMINATION ACTIONS BEING EQUITY PROCEEDINGS OF THE HIGHEST DEGREE, THE SUPREME COURT MAY REVIEW THE EVIDENCE AND MAKE INDEPENDENT FINDINGS OF FACT.

This appeal has been brought because it is felt that the Juvenile Court exceeded its authority by making a disposition terminating the parental rights of the juvenile-mother without strictly constraining and following the substantive and procedural requirements of the

Sponsored by the S.J. Quinney Law Library. Funding for digitization provided by the Institute of Museum and Library Services Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library.

Machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.

termination statute. Section 55-10-109, U.C.A. 1953, as amended. This appeal, being an equity proceeding of the highest degree, In re Adoption of D _____, 122 Utah 525, 252 P.2d 223, at 226 (Utah 1953), the Court may review the evidence and make an independent determination of what the facts are. Walton v. Coffman, 110 Utah 1, 169 P.2d 97, at 103 (Utah 1946); and In re State of Utah, in the interest of Ronald Jennings and Donald Jennings, 20 Ut.2d 50, 432 P.2d 879 (Utah 1967).

It is submitted that the Juvenile Court, which is given a dispositional power to terminate parental rights under Section 55-10-100 (16), can only exercise that power "provided that the provisions of Section 55-10-109 are complied with." Section 55-10-100(16). And, in failing to follow statutory requirements, an order entered in derogation of the statute must be considered null and void as beyond the dispositional power of the Juvenile Court. It is further submitted that upon full examination of the facts and evidence of this case, that the order of the Juvenile Court, entered on January 9, 1973, was made without due regard for the high standard of care and diligence required in such cases; nor was it made with due regard for statutory requirements; nor with due regard for the rights of the juvenile-mother in seeing the natural parent-child relationship continued.

POINT II

THE JUVENILE COURT HAS THE INHERENT POWER TO, AT ANY TIME, MODIFY OR VACATE A PREVIOUSLY ENTERED ERRONEOUS ORDER, PURSUANT TO SECTION 55-10-106, U.C.A. 1953, AS AMENDED.

The petition to set aside and vacate the Juvenile Court's order of January 9, 1973, was brought under Section 55-10-106, U.C.A.

1953, as amended, requesting the Juvenile Court to vacate the termination order due to substantive and procedural mistakes in the January 9, 1975 hearing. Section 55-10-106 provides:

The Court may modify or set aside any order or decree made by it; but no modification of an order placing a child on probation shall be made upon an alleged violation of the terms of probation, until there has been a hearing after due notice to all persons concerned. Notice and a hearing shall also be required in any other case in which the effect of modifying or setting aside an order may be to deprive a parent of the legal custody of the child, or to make other change in legal custody.

In Utah it has been held that a Juvenile Court has the power to reopen a case and modify its order at any time after entry. Stoker v. Gowans, 45 Ut. 556, 147 P. 911 (Utah 1915). This decision was grounded upon Chapter 54, Laws of Utah 1913, which provided that:

All orders, judgments, and decrees so made and entered by the court shall be under its control, and may be modified, amended, or recalled at any time until the child reaches the age of twenty-one years.

The substance of this provision has been carried in the juvenile law of this state ever since (Utah L. 1-1-30, U.C.A. 1943, and Title 55-10-31, U.C.A. 1953) and constitutes the statutory forerunner of the present Section 55-10-106. Also, more recently in the case of Jacobs v. Public Welfare Commission, 7 Ut.2d 304, 323 P.2d 720, at 722 (Utah 1958) the Court stated:

That the Juvenile Court may modify its orders as to custody or other disposition of children properly under its jurisdiction because of delinquency, neglect, or dependency, where parents permanently have been dispossessed of their rights in such children seems undebatable.

It is submitted that not only does the Juvenile Court have

the inherent power under its governing statute

committed errors but that the Juvenile Court may do so under Section 55-19-106 at any time, even though the normal time in which an appeal would otherwise be allowed has lapsed.

POINT III

THE APPELLANT WAS NOT GUILTY OF LACHES IN PETITIONING THE JUVENILE COURT TO VACATE ITS PRIOR TERMINATION ORDER; THE PETITION TO THE JUVENILE COURT AND HER APPEAL FROM BOTH THE ORIGINAL TERMINATION ORDER AND THE JUVENILE COURT'S REFUSAL TO VACATE ITS ORIGINAL ORDER, ARE TIMELY.

Section 55-19-96, U.C.A. 1953, as amended, provides that in circumstances in which a party was not represented by counsel, the court "shall inform them at the conclusion of the proceedings that they have the right to appeal." (See also Rule 26, UJCRPP 1974). The Juvenile Court in its memorandum decision (Paragraph 7, Memorandum Decision, May 4, 1976) acknowledged that no such advice of the right to appeal was given to this juvenile-mother, appellant herein. However, the court went on to say that the juvenile-mother was guilty of laches in seeking to retain the custody of her child by waiting over a year to do so, during which year the child was adopted. Laches, however, is not applicable to the circumstances of this case.

Laches means that a party was aware of and sat upon her legal right or rights with knowledge of the existence of these rights or rights. It is well settled that laches cannot be imputed to one who was ignorant of the facts and for that reason failed to assert his right. Openshaw v. Openshaw, 105 Ut. 574, 144 P.2d 528, at 531 (Utah 1944); and Japantool Brothers Enterprises v. Sugarhouse Shopping

Center Associates, 535 P.2d 1256, (Utah 1975), at 1260 citing Archambault v. Sprouse, 215 S.C. 336, 55 S.E.2d 70, 12 A.L.R.2d 399 (1949).

Indeed it has been held that an unreasonable length of time in asserting one's legal rights or duties to which laches might otherwise apply, does not start to run until knowledge of one's legal rights or duties is shown to exist. Stephan et al v. Equitable Savings and Loan Association, 522 P.2d 478, at 490 (Sup. Ct. Oreg. 1974). In this particular situation, this was not the case. The court specifically stated that the appellant was not made aware of her right to appeal, and one can hardly expect an inexperienced sixteen (16) year old juvenile-mother, in the aftermath of such a traumatic experience to be aware of or even suspect the various technical points of the law.

Boruff v. United States, 310 F.2d 918 (5th Cir. 1962), a criminal case, provides an analogous situation. In that case the United States Court of Appeals for the 5th Circuit held that the time period in which an appeal of a conviction must be taken did not begin to run until the defendant was informed of his right to appeal, where the defendant had not been informed by the trial court that he had this right. The case here at issue involved a young, unsophisticated girl, acting under great stress, not represented by counsel nor informed by the court of her right to appeal at the conclusion of the hearing. The facts of this case certainly justify a re-application of that ruling. This is especially true when Section 55-10-96, U.C.A. 1953, as amended, and Rule 26 of the Juvenile Court Rules of Practice and Procedure specifically direct the judge at the end of the hearing to inform a party, unrepresented by counsel, of the right to appeal. It is submitted that

the petition to the Juvenile Court, requesting the setting aside of the termination order, was proper and timely whether thought of as either in the nature of a prelude to an appeal or as a request to the Juvenile Court for vacation of its January 9, 1975, order under its inherent power granted by Section 55-10-106, for the very reason that the Juvenile Court failed to fulfill its statutory duty under Section 55-10-96.

POINT IV

ANALYSIS OF THE TERMINATION STATUTE, SECTION 55-10-109 U.C.A. 1953, AS AMENDED.

Section 55-10-109(1) U.C.A. 1953, as amended, does not grant to the Juvenile Court a general authorization to terminate a parent's parental relationship with her child whenever the court suspects that a child might be afforded a better life with a new set of parents. Rather, the power granted to the court is a special, limited, dispositional power to be exercised only when the court finds, according to Section 55-1-104, that good cause exist from evidence presented to the court that the parent "are either generally unfit or incompetent to care for the child, or that the parent has expressed the desire to relinquish parental rights as shown "by clear and convincing evidence of intention to give up parental rights -- something almost akin to proof beyond a reasonable doubt." State of Utah, In the Interest of Pitts, 535 P.2d 1241, at 1248 (Utah 1975). Further, Section 55-10-109 contains rather specific procedural safeguards which must be met to assure that the parent fully and adequately has an understanding of the termination proceeding through access to legal counsel. The advice of right to counsel is a duty placed upon the court by Section 55-10-109(2). It is

asserted that when the record of a termination proceeding wholly fails to reveal such advice having been given, that this constitutes reversible error in and of itself. Unless each and every applicable provision of Section 55-10-109 is fully and completely satisfied, a disposition of termination cannot be permitted to stand. "Children are not realty and rights pertaining to them must be handled with care and proper procedure." State of Utah in the interest of Pitts, supra, at 1248.

Section 55-10-109 specifies only four circumstances under which a Juvenile Court may properly terminate the parental relationship and thereby overcome the very strong presumption in the law that a child is better off with its natural mother, D _____ P _____ v. Social Services, 19 Ut.2d 311, 431 P.2d 547 (Utah 1967). Under Section 55-10-109(1)(a) the court may decree termination when it finds "That the parent or parents are unfit or incompetent by reason of conduct or condition seriously detrimental to the child." This paragraph of the statute contemplates situations where a parent, through his or her own conduct causes conditions seriously detrimental to the child. Examples of the application of this paragraph have included where the mother was mentally unstable and essentially neglected her children altogether, In re State of Utah, In the Interest of Ronald Jennings and Donald Jennings, 20 Ut.2d 50, 432 P.2d 879 (Utah 1967); where a father killed his wife in front of his children, In re State of Utah, In the Interest of Robin D. Mullin and Kelley Lee Mullin, 29 Ut.2d 376, 510 P.2d 531 (Utah 1973); where the mother of the children lacked the necessary skills to supervise and train her children, coupled with poor housekeeping standards and very low moral standards of the mother, State of Utah, in the interest of L.G.

532 P.2d 997 (Utah 1975); and in other instances where the acts of the parents themselves are seriously detrimental to the welfare of the child, In re State of Utah, in the interest of Inez Pilling et al v. Donna Lance, 23 Ut.2d 407, 464 P.2d 395 (Utah 1970). The import of this paragraph of the statute is aimed at situations or conditions which are directly attributable to the actions or lack of actions on the part of the parents themselves. This paragraph of the statute is not directed at the situation of a sixteen (16) year old juvenile-mother, whose parents refuse to allow her to bring her child home. It is not aimed at situations where, as the December 2, 1978, petition for termination to the Juvenile Court alleged, the juvenile mother "through no fault" of her own was unable to temporarily care for her child. It is not meant to encompass situations where an otherwise fit and proper juvenile-mother was not permitted to bring her child home and no clear and convincing evidence was presented to the court that, given a little time, the home situation of the petitioner would not have corrected itself, which was indeed what happened in this particular case. This court has held:

Deprivation of the parents' custody of their children is a drastic remedy which should be resorted to only in extreme cases and when it is manifest that the home itself cannot or will not correct the evils which exist Inez Pilling et al v. Donna Lance, supra, at 397.

Section 55-10-109(1)(b) and (c) contemplate two of the remaining three circumstances whereby a Juvenile Court may terminate a parent-child relationship. They encompass circumstances where a parent has either abandoned a child or refused to care for the child after a trial period with the child in the home. These two paragraphs of the statute are not at issue in this matter nor material to the discussion herein

Sponsored by the S.J. Quinney Law Library. Funding for digitization provided by the Institute of Museum and Library Services Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library.

Machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.

and will not be discussed further.

The fourth, and last, circumstance wherein a Juvenile Court may assume the dispositional power to terminate a parent-child relationship is covered by Section 55-10-109(5) which specifies:

The parent-child relationship may be terminated upon voluntary petition of one or both parents if the court finds that such termination is in the best interest of the parent and the child. Such termination with respect to one parent does not affect the rights of the other parent.

This portion of the statute contemplates a situation whereby a parent or parents come voluntarily to the court and say, "Here is my child. I don't want it (or can't care for it) any more. Terminate my parental rights and find a home for the child." The voluntary nature of such an occurrence is preserved by the requirement in the statute that the parent perform an affirmative act demonstrating the desire for such a court disposition, by voluntarily petitioning the court for termination. This is a two-step process. First, the parent must affirmatively, and voluntarily request the termination. Secondly, the court must make a determination, from the evidence presented, and entered in it, that such a disposition would be in the interest of both the parent and the child.

Also, Section 55-10-109(6) specifically states that such a disposition on the part of the Juvenile Court only has the effect of terminating the rights of the parent or parents who personally and voluntarily appear before the court and request such a disposition. It specifically denies to the Juvenile Court the power to terminate the parental rights of a parent who does not voluntarily petition and appear personally before the court. Under such a proposal all dispositional power,
*Sponsored by the S.J. Quinney Law Library. Funding for digitization provided by the Institute of Museum and Library Services
Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library.
Machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.*

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