1976

State of Utah in the interest of Baby Girl Marie v. Nadine Munoz : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE JUVENILE COURT HAD NO JURISDICTION TO VACATE ITS PREVIOUSLY ENTERED ORDER

Appellant argues that the Juvenile Court has inherent power, pursuant to the provisions of Section 55-10-106, U.C.A. 1953 as amended, to vacate a previous order at any time. Respondent submits that this right of review is not absolute or unqualified. Section 55-10-106 must be interpreted in pari materia with other statutory instruction and applied according to case decision.

1. For example, as an adoption matter has been instituted regarding Baby Girl Marie, it is obvious that the right of the Juvenile Court to revoke a previous order regarding said child must be tempered by the relationships created in the adoption proceedings.

Section 55-10-78 U.C.A. 1953, in speaking of the juris of the Juvenile Court, states "Nothing contained in this act shall deprive the district courts of jurisdiction in adoption proceedings."

Section 78-30-7 U.C.A. 1953 places exclusive jurisdiction in regard to adoption proceedings in the District Court.

In the case of In re Trimibles' Adoption, 16 Utah 2d 188, 398 P.2d 25 (1965), the District Court declined jurisdiction in an adoption proceeding to rule on a question of consent to adoption by reason of desertion, taking the position that the Juvenile Court had exclusive jurisdiction in such situation. The Supreme Court issued a writ of mandamus to the District Court, stating:

Juris of the district court in adoption proceedings arises when a petition is filed with the clerk of the district court. Once that jurisdiction is obtained the district court is to decide all issues necessary to the adoption. The issue of necessity of consent because of desertion, when such issue arises, is a necessary issue to be decided by the district court. The juvenile court is a creature of statute and a court of limited jurisdiction...To follow the necessary procedural steps in obtaining juvenile court jurisdiction every time the issue of necessity of consent arose would be to introduce confusion into the adoption proceedings. (Ibid, 398 P.2d 26; emphasis added).

We submit that once the jurisdiction of the District Court was invoked by the filing of an adoption petition, the jurisdiction of the District Court became paramount in deciding all issues necessary to the adoption, including whether or not Appellant voluntarily consented to termination of the parental rights and whether or not she was afforded due process in the termination proceeding. The Juvenile Court has lost jurisdiction to reconsider and revoke its termination order by the intervention of the District Court in the adoption proceeding. To hold otherwise would put the Juvenile Court on a

collision course with the District Court, allowing it, by revocation of a previous termination order, to interfere with a new parent-child relationship created by the District Court. Or, assuming the District Court ignores or refuses to recognize any change in status ordered by the Juvenile Court, then the entire review procedure by the Juvenile Court becomes an effort in futility. The chaos that could result, by recognizing any continuing jurisdiction by the Juvenile Court over baby girl Marie, staggers the mind.

None of the cases cited by Appellant as authority for the Juvenile Court to reopen a case and modify its prior order involve circumstances where there has been intervening jurisdiction interposed by a constitutional court of unlimited jurisdiction involving the same matter previously disposed of in the Juvenile Court.

2. In any event, the Juvenile Court can of its own power, and did in this case, terminate its continuing jurisdiction. Section 55-10-101 U.C.A. 1953 provides: "The continuing jurisdiction of the court shall terminate (1) Upon order of the court...." etc.

Pursuant to the very authority argued by Appellant, the Juvenile Court terminated the decree entered by it on January 9, 1975, at a review hearing. (R. 21) The question of review and revocation, urged by Appellant, is actually moot. There is nothing for the Juvenile Court to modify or set aside. The order under consideration no longer exists and the court's continuing jurisdiction in relation to the substance thereof has been terminated.

3. It is also submitted that modification of the termination order, which of necessity could also modify the custody order made a part thereof, is specifically prevented by statute. Section 55-10-108 U.C.A. 1953 reads:

No petition by a parent may be filed under this section (modification of custody order) after his or her parental rights have been terminated in accordance with Section 55-10-109.

The intent of the Legislature seems to be that a parent does not have standing before the court to petition for restoration of custody once a termination order has been entered. The reason is obvious. There can be no certainty in regard to future disposition of a child if a parent may petition for modification of a decree once termination of parental rights has been ordered. The available recourse to the parent is appeal. (Section 55-10-109(3)).

4. Third parties are now vitally concerned in any revocation of the termination order; viz the adoptive parents. Their rights have now intervened and must be considered. As they were not and would not be parties in a Juvenile Court proceeding, we submit the Juvenile Court now has no jurisdiction to revoke the termination order in derogation of their interest in the adoptive child. This matter cannot now be reconsidered by the Juvenile Court in a vacuum, ignoring the very vital concerns of the adoptive parents, in considering whether a consent to place for adoption may be revoked. In the instant case the equities should surely be heavily balanced on the side of the adoptive parents who have had the child since birth as against a mother who waited 15 months to challenge a termination decree.

In summary, therefore, it is submitted, that the Juvenile Court has no jurisdiction to modify, set aside or otherwise reconsider its order of January, 1975, terminating Appellant's parental rights for these reasons:

1. The jurisdiction of the District Court, as a result of the adoption proceedings, is now paramount and exclusive in regard to termination of Appellant's parental rights.

2. The Juvenile Court, by its own act in terminating the termination order, has discontinued its continuing jurisdiction over the matter.

3. The parents only recourse by statute from a termination order, is appeal.

4. Intervening rights of the adoptive parents preclude reassertion of jurisdiction by the Juvenile Court.

POINT II.

APPELLANT DID NOT TIMELY APPEAL

The hearing regarding termination of Appellant's parental rights was held on January 9, 1975. (R. 18). Findings of Fact and a Decree ordering that Marie be placed in the custody of the Utah State DFS for the purpose of adoption were entered by Juvenile Court Judge Charles Bradford on the same date, January 9, 1975. (R. 20)

Section 55-10-109(3) provides:

(3) Unless there is an appeal from the order terminating the rights of one or both parents, the order permanently terminates the legal parent-child relationship and all the rights and duties, including residual parental rights and duties of the parents or parents involved.

Section 55-10-112 U.C.A. 1953 provides:

An appeal to the Supreme Court may be taken from any order, decree, or judgment of the juvenile court... The appeal must be taken within one month from the entry of the order, decree, or judgment appealed from. (emphasis added).

Therefore the appeal time on the January 9, 1975 order expired February 9, 1975. Appeal was the only recourse open to Appellant from the January 9, 1975 Order. Technically, an appeal has never been taken from that Order. (The Notice of Appeal filed in this case on May 11, 1976, is from the order of the Juvenile Court dated May 4, 1976, not from the January 9, 1975 order. See R. 44). Assuming the Juvenile Court had no

jurisdiction to hear the Petition to Vacate, as argued by Respondent under Point I, and that Appellant has never in fact appealed from the January 9, 1975 Order as herein pointed out, this appeal is illusory and should be dismissed.

Irrespective of such position, and assuming an appeal has been taken as apparently intended by Appellant from both the January 9, 1975 order and the May 4, 1976 decision, it is nevertheless herewith argued that this appeal is untimely and that Appellant is estopped from this appeal because of laches.

The Petition to Set Aside and Vacate A Decree Terminating Parental Rights was filed by Appellant on April 2, 1976. (R. 33). This 15 months after the Decree was entered on January 9, 1975. (R 20). During this time Baby Girl Marie had been placed for adoption, the adoption finalized and the child grown from an infant of 5 months to a toddler of 20 months, stabilizing herself in the home of her adoptive parents.

The record reflects no attempt by Appellant or any attorney on her behalf to petition the court for review of the January 9, 1975 Decree until April 5, 1976. Appellant argues that she was an unexperienced juvenile, unwed mother, of age 16 caught up in a traumatic experience and therefore could not be expected to be aware of the technical points of law. The record belies any claim that Appellant was an inexperienced litigant. Appellant was present in Juvenile Court with counsel on at least two occasions - 10-24-74 and 11-6-74 (R. 9, R. 13). Certainly she was aware of the availability of counsel should she be of a mind to contest the January 9, 1975 order. The fact is that on January 9 she was resolved to give up the baby, did not want counsel, and had no intention to resist a Termination Order. (Tr. 1,3); Tr. 2,4,11,15). Appellant paints the picture of a distraught mother, spending

a frantic year trying to learn of her child, and finally going to legal counsel on advise of the DFS social worker 15 months later. (Appellant's brief, pg. 4). At what point did the mother's resolve of January 9 to give up her baby change? At that point why didn't she go to her former counsel, with whom she was familiar for advise? Why would the social worker wait 15 months before recommending the Appellant see an attorney? Are we to believe there was some attempt by the social worker to deceive the mother, some dereliction of duty on the part of her former counsel who was well aware of the proceedings, or some conspiracy between the both of them to hurt this young frightened mother? It appears more to be a rather delayed case of seller's remorse, which wouldn't be quite so tragic if we were dealing with a piece of goods rather than a living child.

Appellant contends that laches does not apply in this case because Appellant was not advised of her right to appeal. (Appellant's Brief pg. 8). Judge Bradford admits that he did not orally so advise the Appellant at the conclusion of the termination hearing. (R. 36). We suggest two mitigating factors: First, Section 55-10-96 U.C.A. 1953, upon which Appellant relies, does not require the Juvenile Court to advise the parent of his right to appeal at the conclusion of a hearing unless the parent was not represented by counsel. Appellant was not represented by counsel at this particular hearing, but she had been throughout the proceedings. Appellant could have had counsel at the hearing if she had so desired, and counsel was aware of the January 9, 1975 hearing and the purpose thereof. (R. 34, Tr. 1,4). In view of these circumstances it seems insignificant and unprejudicial that the Juvenile Court Judge said nothing about appeal at the conclusion of the January 9 hearing. In any event it is probable that he did so before the hearing. (Tr. 2,15). Secondly, Appellant acknowledges that Appellant appeared at the January 9 hearing "in response to a summons." (Appellants Brief

pg. 3, AR. 1). If this is the case then Appellant was aware from the summons that she had a right of appeal as the legend on the summons reads:

To Parent(s), Guardian or Custodian--
(6) You may appeal the Judge's decision to the Utah Supreme Court if initiated within 30 days of the Juvenile Court Judge's decision.

The doctrine of "laches" is defined as follows:

The established doctrine of equity that, apart from any question of statutory limitation its courts will discourage delay and sloth in the enforcement of rights. Equity demands conscience, good faith and reasonable diligence. In their absence the court will not act. The object of the doctrine of laches is to exact of the complainant fair dealing with his adversary and the rule was adopted largely because after great lapse of time, from death of parties, loss of papers, death of witnesses, change of title, intervention of equities, or other causes, there is danger of doing injustice, and there can be no longer a safe determination of the controversy. (The Self-Pronouncing Law Dictionary, Second Students Edition, Lawyers Co-Operative Publishing Co., Rochester, New York, pg. 473).

We submit that the position of Appellant in this matter is on all fours with this definition. This court should not countenance Appellant's delay in seeking revocation of a 15 month old court order, especially in view of the intervention of third-party equities and the grave danger of doing injustice to said parties. Respondent entirely agrees with Appellant that this is an equity matter of the highest degree. We cannot consider this matter in an academic vacuum as to whether or not certain procedural steps were followed.

The theory of laches focuses upon two elements. (1) Lack of diligence on the part of Appellant and (2) injury to respondent owing to appellant's lack of diligence. Paponikolas Brothers Enterprises v. Sugarhouse Shopping Center Associates, 535 P.2d 1256, 1975. In considering the question of lack of diligence in cases similar to the instant case where revocation of previous relinquishments is involved, this court has placed emphasis on the passage of

time between relinquishment and attempted revocation. In the case of D— P— v. Social Service and Child W. Dept., 19 Utah 2d 311, 431 P.2d 547 (1967), this court ordered restoration of custody to a natural mother. The court discussed at some length the diligence exercised by the natural mother, being obviously influenced thereby. In that case the natural mother executed a release to the social agency within 24 hours following the birth of her child. Seven days later she contacted her doctor in an effort to get the baby. Five days later she contacted the placement agency for the same purpose. Four days later a petition was filed - only three weeks and one day after the birth of the baby. Trial was held when the baby was only one month old - two weeks later the findings and conclusions were signed. The court, of course, was influenced by other things, including the mother's physical state at the time she gave the consent as well as the fact that as of the date of trial petition for adoption had not been filed. But the court then contrasted that case with other Utah cases where longer waiting periods had been involved with different results. The diligence of the natural mother and the lack of injury to respondent attributable to her were to a large part dispositive of the case. In the instant case to the converse the lack of diligence on the part of the mother with resultant grave injury to the real respondents (adoptive parents) certainly would dictate a much different result. Mr. Justice Crockett recognized these variables and even that intervening rights may be vested when he stated in an earlier case:

Reading of many cases on this subject teaches that each depends upon its own facts: the circumstances of the placement of the child, those under which the consent was given, the length of time the adopting parents have had the child, any "vested rights" that have intervened, the welfare and the

child; the conduct, as well as the character and ability of the respective claimants; these and the particular governing statute are all given consideration in determining whether the consent can be revoked. (In re Adoption of D. 122 Utah 525, 252 P.2d 223 (1953)).

Applying these considerations as if a test as to whether termination of parental rights should be revoked in the instant case a fair application dictates as follows:

1. The child was placed by an authorized government agency with no questions as to the appropriateness thereof.
2. A consent to the termination of parental rights was voluntarily given in open court after considered resolve.
3. The child is now almost two years old, has never been in the custody of the natural mother, and has been in an adoptive house for over one year.
4. The welfare of the child is obviously best served in the home of the adoptive parents. The natural mother still resides with parents (appellant's brief pg. 4) who refuse to board the child or have anything to do with it, and there has been no evidence produced that she is in any way better able to provide and care for the child now than when the Juvenile Court found her ". . . incompetant and incapable of providing the necessary care for the child." (R 35)
5. As to the "application of a particular governing statute" this will be treated in the next point.

It is submitted, therefore, that laches prevents any revocation of the previous termination order.

POINT III.

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